STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO AMEND THE INDICTMENT TO HABITUAL STATUS ON THE MORNING OF TRIAL AND UNFAIRLY SURPRISED THE DEFENDANT AND DID NOT AFFORD THE DEFENDANT A FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO PRESENT A DEFENSE
- II. WHETHER THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT REFUSED TO GRANT A DIRECTED VERDICT.
- III. WHETHER THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT REFUSED TO ALLOW THE DEFENSE TO CALL MARY REED TO IMPEACH THE CREDIBILITY OF THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT MIKE JERNIGAN
- IV. WHETHER THE COURT SHOULD HAVE ALLOWED THE LESSER JURY INSTRUCTION OF POSSESSION OF COCAINE IN THE ABOVE REFERENCED MATTER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case comes before the Court as an appeal from the jury verdict and final judgment entered by the Circuit Court of the Rankin County, Mississippi on July 6, 2006.

The appellant was charged by indictment on September 22, 2004, with the crime of Sale of Cocaine. Said indictment charged that on or about May 11, 1997 Randy Dale Jackson "did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously, knowingly, intentionally sell, deliver, or transfer a quantity of cocaine. . . " (R. at 1).

The trial was commenced in this action on February 23, 2006 in the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi. The Honorable Samac Richardson was presiding. On the morning of trial, the State sought to amend the indictment to charge Stella Spann, a 52 year old grandmother, as a habitual offender pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-81 (1972, as amended) which would have subjected Stella Spann to a sentenced of thirty (30) year without possibility of parole. (R. at 26). The State alleged that Stella Spann was convected of the crimes of grand larceny and uttering a forgery in 1975, almost (30) thirty years ago. Appellant's counsel had no opportunity to consult with Stella Spann about these possible convictions until the morning of trial. Frankly, the appellant found it difficult to remember what happened thirty years ago. The defense objected to the late amendment and requested a continuance, another trial date and a status conference to decide whether or not Stella Spann should go to trial. (Tr. at 6). The Trial Court granted the State's motion. (Tr. at 6). Subsequently, the trial commenced.

The State called Mike Jernigan, a paid Confidential Informant. Jenigan testified that he met with Brandon Police Officers and was told to go to Cherry Hill Lane in Brandon and purshase crack cocaine. He met with a black male, called "Bo", a.k.a. Willie Holmes. Willie Holmes offered to get Jernigan crack cocaine at a crack house. However, Willie Holmes did not possess a car. He caught a ride from Stella Spann, a local crack addict, who did have a car. (Tr. at 44). Mike Jernigan followed Willie Holmes and Stella Spann in a separate car. While giving Willie Holmes a ride to the crackhouse, Stella Spann's car runs out of gas. After getting gas, they get to the crackhouse and Willie Holmes hands Mike Jernigan two rocks of crack cocaine. Jernigan testified that he saw Stella Spann hand Willie Holmes crack cocaine. After recieving crack cocaine from Willie Holmes and giving him money, Stella Spann requests a rock to smoke from Mike Jernigan. He admitted he was a cocaine user. On cross, Jernigan testified he "volunteered" to work with the Brandon Police Department as an informant. He admitted on cross examination that he did not put in a signed statement at he saw Stella Spann handle or hand Willie Holmes Cocaine. Jernigan testifed under oath he did not personally know Stella Spann and did know a defense witness named Mary Reed. He testified under oath that he had never previously smoked crack cocaine with Stella Spann. Mary Reed was prepared to testify that Jernigan knew Ms. Spann and smoked with her crack cocaine on several occasions.

Michael Mann testifed that Jernigan was in a high cocaine area when he was stopped and he was later induced to be a confidential informant. At the close of the State's case, the appellant moved for directed verdict, which was denied. (Tr. at 117).

The defense moved to call Mary Reed testify about Mike Jernigan's prior relationship with Stella Spann and her witnessing him smoking crack with Stella Spann, in direct contradiction of his testimony on cross examination. (Tr. at 117). The Trial Court held that the defense could not call Mary Reed to testify. (Tr. at 120). The defense therefore rested.

The jury entered a verdict of guilty on February 23, 2003. (R. at 58). Sentencing was set for June 29 2006. The defense filed Objection to Amendment of Indictment as Habitual Offender and/or In the Alternative Objection to Sentencing Defendant as Habitual Offender. (R. at 86). The Appellant filed a Motion for a New Trial and Motion for a Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, which were denied on June 29, 2006. On June 29, 2006, a Notice of Appeal was filed in the above referenced action. (R. at 94). On June 29, 2006, Stella Spann was sentenced to a term of thirty years, with release after service of fifteen years.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court committed reversible error by allowing the State of Mississippi to amend the indictment for Sale of Cocaine to habitual offender status on the morning of trial and unfairly surprise the defendant and did not afford the defendant a fair opportunity to present a defense. Further, the trial court should have granted the appellant's motion for directed verdict. There was not enough evidence to sustain a conviction for sale of cocaine. There was no evidence Ms. Spann participated directly or benefitted from the sale transaction between the Confidential Informant and Codefendant Willie Holmes. Also the court should have allowed the defense to call defense witness Mary Reed who testify for impeachment purposes concerning the credibility of the Confidential Informant Mike Jernigan. The lessor jury instruction of possession of cocaine should have been considered for the jury's consideration.

I. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO AMEND THE INDICTMENT THE MORNING OF TRIAL TO HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUS IN VIOLATION OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE AND IT OWN STANDING RULES.

The trial court committed reversible error when it allowed the State of Mississippi to amend the indictment the morning of trial on February 23, 2006 to habitual offender status in violation the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Rule 7.09 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice allows for the amendment of an indictment in order to charge an offender as an habitual offender. Rule 7.09 reads:

All indictments may be amended as to form but not as to the substance of the offense charged. Indictments may also be amended to charge the defendant as an habitual offender or to elevate the level of the offense where the offense is one which is subject to enhanced punishment for subsequent offenses and the amendment is to assert prior offenses justifying such enhancement (e.g., driving under the influence, Miss.Code Ann. § 63-11-30). Amendment shall be allowed only if the defendant is afforded a fair opportunity to present a defense and is not unfairly surprised.

U.R.C.C.C. 7.09 (emphasis added). Thus, an indictment may be amended to charge an offender as an habitual offender only if the offender is given a "fair opportunity to present a defense and is not unfairly surprised." U.R.C.C.C. 7.09. Stella Spann was scheduled to go trial on February 23, 2006 in the Circuit Court of Rankin County on a charge of Sale of Cocaine. Pursuant to the Local Rules of the Rankin County Circuit Court, Stella Spann and the State had a Pre-trial Conference on February 10, 2006 and Status Conference on February 13, 2006 for the purpose of handling any pre-trial motions. Both the State and the defendant were ordered by the Trial Court to present any pre-trial motions on the aforementioned dates. (R. at 19). In violation the Trial

Court's own local rules, the Trial Court allowed the State to amend the indictment the morning of trial on February 23, 2006. The defense attorney strenuously objected to the amendment.

THE COURT: Cause number 16,345, state of Mississippi versus Stella Spann the state has filed a motion in this case to amend the indictment t o charge Ms. Spann as an habitual offender. Okay. On the record, Mr . Emfinger , your motion?

MR. EMFINGER: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. EMFINGER: Your Honor, we filed this yesterday. When we found these o d cases, we determined that she was, in fact -- did, in fact, have two or more prior felony convictions. They were old cases. They were not still housed here in the county courthouse. It was difficult -- we couldn't ascertain from the computer records whether they were felonies or misdemeanors, hey were able to be found yesterday and we did find that at least two of these convictions were felony convictions. So we filed a Motion to Amend. we've got the bases all covered in the motion, there. We think that under the law that we're entitled to amend this indictment, this time, to charge Stella Spann as an habitual offender. I have faxed copies of everything that was in the file -- or copies of the indictments -the convictions, sentence, transcript, and those supporting documents to Mr. Evans yesterday. And we have no objection, Judge, that if we obtain a conviction today to set off sentencing for such a period needed that will allow Mr. Evans time to review the files, himself, and prepare whatever defense as will be necessary. He's not going to be prejudiced by this I at e delay -- late amendment at this point. And we think that, under the law, we're entitled to amend the indictment.

THE COURT: Okav. Mr. Evans?

MR. EVANS: Yes, Your Honor. I would like to pose an objection to amending the indictment, at this time. Due to a timeliness and prejudicial effect it would have on the defense. Now, Your Honor, the court has an upstanding rule in Rankin County of having status conferences and procedural conferences so this case was continued from the last status conference almost two months ago. The State had plenty of time to initiate an investigation to see whether or not the defendant had any convictions. From the defense standpoint, this is a totally (Inaudible) -- priors based upon information from the defendant -- from defendant and family. There were no indications of any prior convictions or whether or not there's even a possibility. The reason the court has standing rules regarding pre trial motions is that any motions of designation should be filed on upon that date to give the defense an opportunity to assess whether or not it's proper to go to trial or evaluate any plea bargain on the table. This morning I just got notice -- or yesterday evening, I got notice that the State intended to file a motion to amend the indictment and we have not had an

opportunity to evaluate whether or not it is, you know, proper for the defendant to go to trial this morning. Of course, it is a -- it 's a different circumstance when you are facing the possibility of thirty years without parole, based upon the motion the State's filed. Due to that, we would either ask that the state 's -- rule this motion untimely or grant the defendant a continuance and another trial date and a status conference to evaluate whether or

not we should go to trial.

THE COURT: All right . we've already -- you've al ready had a conference with your client , this morning, about that . And your client should very well know whether or

not she's been in this court before and been convicted. So to me, it 's a very simple issue. Either she's been convicted or she hasn't been convicted. She knows the answer to that. And that 's the only information you need or she needs to be able to make an intelligent decision as to whether or not go forward with the trial. The evidence of prior convictions will not go before the jury unless she assumes the witness chair; and, then, only for the limited purpose of attacking her credibility as a witness. And you had a conference with her this morning for ten or fifteen minutes to discuss this along with her family. And I understand that she still wants to go -- has made the decision to still go to trial. And the recommendation that Mr. Emfinger has made, or suggestion, is to continue sentencing if she is convicted to allow enough time to -- for you to investigate and verify her habitual offender status by this Court. So, I'm going to grant the motion.

(Tr. at 4-6).

The defense attorney was given ten to fifteen minutes to discuss the motion with Ms. Spann. Stellla Spann was unfairly surprised by the motion to amend the indictment. UCCCR 7.09. In Mississippi, "[i]t is permissible to amend the indictment on the date of trial and to charge the defendant as a habitual criminal under Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-19-83, when defense counsel is aware of the State's intentions and the defendant is fully aware of the State's intentions during plea negotiations."

Forkner v. State, 902 So.2d 615, 624 (¶28) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing Ellis v. State, 469 So.2d 1256 (Miss. 1956)). The Appellant contends that had she been given proper notice of the State's intention to charge her as a habitual offender, she may have

elected to plea rather than risk going to trial.

What is clearly distinguishable from Forkner, is that the State's motion to amend the indictment to habitual status in the case at bar was given clearly after plea negotiations had ceased on February 13, 2006 as required by the Trial Court's local rules. Stella Spann was never given proper notice of the State's intention to amend the indictment and was therefore, unfairly surprised. Defense Counsel only had ten minutes to consult with Ms. Span during jury selection. The actions of the State on the morning of trial violated all notions of fairness and due process.

II. THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT REFUSED TO GRANT A DIRECTED VERDICT.

When "considering whether or not the verdict is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true all the evidence which supports the State's position, together with all inferences reasonably flowing therefrom, in the light most favorable to the State's theory of the case." Britt v. State, 520 So. 2d 1377, 1379 (Miss. 1988), citing, Haymond v. State, 478 So. 2d 297, 300 (Miss.1985). The evidence in the case at bar showed the appellant acted in self-defense from an apparent threat to his life. Concerning challenges to the legal sufficiency of the evidence, this Court said in McFee v. State, 511 So.2d 130 (Miss. 1987):

When on appeal one convicted of a criminal offense challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence, our authority to interfere with the jury's verdict is quite limited. We proceed by considering all of the evidence - not just that supporting the case for the prosecution - in the light most consistent with the verdict. We give [the] prosecution the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. If the facts and inferences so considered point in favor of the accused with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable

doubt that he was guilty, reversal and discharge is required. On the other hand, if there is in the record substantial evidence of such quality and weight that, having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable and fair minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, the verdict of guilty is thus placed beyond our authority to disturb. See, e.g., <u>Gavin v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 952, 956 (Miss. 1985); <u>May v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984).

McFee v. State, 511 So.2d at 133-34. (emphasis added).

The State did not prove that the appellant committed the crime of sale of cocaine. A reasonable person could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that she was guilty of the crime of sale of cocaine. The evidence indicates the most Stella Spann could have been found guilty was the crime of possession, if the testimony of the confidential informant is to be believed.

The indictment charged Stella Spann with "unlawfully. . .sale of cocaine,". (R. at 3). There was no evidence produced at trial that Stella Spann ever exchanged money or transferred cocaine for money from Mike Jernigan. At most, looking at the evidence most favorable to the State, the evidence would only show that Stella Spann, a crack addict, sought to receive cocaine for her own personal use, based on Mike Jernigan's testimony that Ms. Spann asked to smoke some of Jernigan's crack.

III. WHETHER THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT REFUSED TO ALLOW THE DEFENSE TO CALL MARY REED TO IMPEACH THE CREDIBILITY OF THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT MIKE JERNIGAN

The trial court committed reversible error when it refused to allow the defense to call defense witness Mary Reed to impeach the credibility of the Confidential Informant Mike Jernigan which impacted on Stella Spann's right to a fair trial. Under Rule 616 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, for the purpose of the impeaching the witness, evidence of bias, prejudice, or interest of the witness for or against the party to a case

is admissible. Further, under Rule 608 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, Specific instances of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting his credibility, other than conviction of crime as provided in Rule 609, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence. They may, however, in the discretion of the court, if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness, be inquired into on cross-examination of the witness (1) concerning his character for truthfulness or untruthfulness, or (2) concerning the character for truthfulness or untruthfulness as to which character the witness being cross-examined has testified.

The second exception of Rule 608 goes further than pre-rule Mississippi practice. This exception allows for impeachment by specific acts which are something other than criminal convictions when the character trait of truthfulness of the witness being cross-examined is under attack. The second exception also allows the witness to be cross-examined regarding specific acts involving the truthfulness of another witness about whom he has testified.

The Confidential Informant Mike Jernigan testified that he did not personally know Stella Spann and had never met her. Defense witness Mary Reed was prepared to directly challenge the veracity of the State's witness by testifying under oath that she was with Mike Jernigan when he was smoking crack with Mike Jernigan. Mike Jernigan and denied under oath he even knew Mary Reed or Stella Spann. Mike Jernigan's credibility as witness and confidential informant were highly relevant to the defense in this matter. The trial court's refusal to allow the defense to call Mary Reed to directly impeach the credibility of Mike Jernigan violated Stella Reed's right to a fair trial under

the Mississippi and United States's Constitution.

IV. WHETHER THE COURT SHOULD HAVE ALLOWED THE LESSER JURY INSTRUCTION OF POSSESSION OF COCAINE IN THE ABOVE REFERENCED MATTER

The Trial court erred when it refused instructions D-10 and D-11 was a lesserincluded offense instructions, which advised that if the State failed to prove one or more elements of sale of a controlled substance, the jury may find Stella Spann guilty of possession of cocaine. (R. at 55-56). A defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case, however, this entitlement is limited in that the court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence. Adams v. State, 772 So.2d 1010 (quoting Heidel v. State., 587 So.2d 835, 842 (Miss.1991) (citations omitted)). Further,[e]ven though based on meager evidence and highly unlikely, a defendant is entitled to have every legal defense he asserts to be submitted as a factual issue for determination by the jury under proper instruction of the court. Where a defendant's proffered instruction has an evidentiary basis, properly states the law, and is the only instruction presenting his theory of the case, refusal to grant it constitutes reversible error. Hester v. State,. 602 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss.1992). Possession of Cocaine is the lesser included offense to the crime of Sale of Cocaine. The Rankin County should have been allowed to consider the lesser included instruction. Confidential Informant Mike Jernigan testified that Stella Spann may have momentarily possessed the cocaine before he completed the transaction with Willie Holmes. He further testified that Stella Spann, a crack addict requested Jernigan give her some of

his crack cocaine so she could smoke it.

MR. EVANS: I think -- I think the State is taking a confidential position. I think the evidence would bear out in front of jury to conclude that possession would be the

proper charge. There was testimony, at least, according to the state's position, that she was interested in getting what is called quote "a crumb" for her personal use. A jury can conclude, based upon the state's theory, that there was a momentarily handling of the drugs for the purpose of her trying to, you know, for personal use. The testimony was that, according to some of witnesses here, she momentarily possessed the drugs then she handed it to Holmes. And their position was that she wanted to use the drugs for personal use or get a crumb of it also.

(Tr. at 126).

A jury instruction on a lesser-included offense is to be given when a defendant "point[s] to evidence in the record from which a jury could reasonably find him not guilty of the crime with which he was charged and at the same time find him guilty of the lesser included offense." <u>Ladnier v. State</u>, 878 So.2d 926, 932 (Miss. 2004) (citing Toliver v. State, 600 So.2d 186, **192 (Miss. 1992)).**

The Supreme Court has held that the "essential elements of a lesser-included offense are among the elements of the superior offense." State v. Shaw, 880 So.2d 296, 301 (Miss. 2004) (citations omitted). Stated differently, if an accused is guilty of the offense for which she was indicted, the accused is also guilty of any crime considered to be a lesser-included offense. Harper v. State, 478 So.2d 1017, 1021 (Miss. 1985).

CONCLUSION

For the above listed reasons the Appellant respectfully requests that the Court reverse her conviction and grant her a new trial in the above referenced matter.