IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STELLA SPANN

FILED

APPELLANT

JUL 13 2007

VS.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2006-KA-1117

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in allowing the State to amend the indictment. Further, the issue is most in that Spann was not sentenced as a habitual offender. Also, there was sufficient evidence to sustain Spann's conviction.

The trial court did not err in refusing to allow Mary Reed to testify. Further, even if the court had erred in refusing Ms. Reed's testimony, the error was harmless in that the exclusion of the testimony did not substantially affect the outcome of the trial. The trial court properly refused the lesser-included jury instruction of possession of cocaine.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO AMEND THE INDICTMENT.

Spann claims that it was reversible error for the trial court to allow the State "to amend the indictment on the morning of trial... to habitual offender status." (Appellant's Brief p. 1). Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 7.09 specifically states that an indictment may be amended to charge the defendant as a habitual offender. Further, "[i]t is well settled ... that a change in the indictment

is permissible if it does not materially alter facts which are the essence of the offense on the face of the indictment as it originally stood or materially alter a defense to the indictment as it originally stood so as to prejudice the defendant's case." Wilson v. State, 935 So.2d 945, 948 (Miss. 2006) (quoting Miller v. State, 740 So.2d 858, 862 (Miss. 1999). The Mississippi Supreme Court held in Swington v. State that:

[T]he test of whether an accused is prejudiced by the amendment of an indictment or information has been said to be whether or not a defense under the indictment or information as it originally stood would be equally available after the amendment is made and whether or not any evidence [the] accused might have would be equally applicable to the indictment or information in the one form as in the other; if the answer is in the affirmative, the amendment is one of form and not of substance.

742 So.2d 1106, 1118 (Miss.1999). The Court further held that "[t]he plain language of URCCC 7.09, concerning amendment of indictments, makes it readily apparent that prior offenses used to charge the defendant as an habitual offender are not substantive elements of the offense charged."

Id. Thus, Spann was not prejudiced by the amendment.

Spann also claims that she was "unfairly surprised." (Appellant's Brief p. 4). She further contends that "had she been given proper notice of the State's intention to charge her as a habitual offender, she may have elected to plea rather than to risk going to trial." (Appellant's Brief p. 3-4). In *Madison v. State*, the indictment was amended the day before trial just as in Spann's case. 923 So.2d 252, 254 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). The defendant in *Madison* made the exact same arguments as Spann and this Court held that:

Madison was not unfairly surprised by the motion to amend the indictment to charge him as a habitual offender. "The test for whether an amendment to the indictment will prejudice the defense is whether the defense as it originally stood would be equally available after the amendment is made." Eakes v. State, 665 So.2d 852, 859-60 (Miss. 1995). Since an amendment charging a defendant as a habitual offender does not affect the substance of the crime charged, but only the sentencing, Madison's defense to the armed robbery charge was unaffected by the amendment. Adams v. State, 772 So.2d 1010, 1020 (¶ 50) (Miss. 2000). This issue is without merit.

Id. Moreover, "Mississippi law allows an amendment of an indictment to charge a defendant as a habitual offender even after the jury has returned a guilty verdict." Wilson, 935 So.2d at 948 (citing Torrey v. State, 891 So.2d 188, 195 (Miss.2004)). Accordingly, it was not reversible error to allow the State to amend the indictment as Spann was not prejudiced or unfairly surprised. Thus, Spann's first issue is without merit.

II. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION.

Spann also argues that the trial court "committed reversible error when it refused to grant a directed verdict." (Appellant's Brief p. 4). A motion for directed verdict challenges the "legal sufficiency of the evidence." *Murrell v. State*, 955 So.2d 975, 978 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction where "any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Cridiso v. State*, 956 So.2d 281, 290 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (quoting *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss.2005)). "In reviewing such motions, the trial court considers all of the credible evidence consistent with the defendant's guilt, giving the prosecution the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonable drawn from this evidence." *Smith v. State*, 839 So.2d 489, 495 (Miss.2003) (citing *McClain v. State*, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss.1993)). Basically, "once the jury has returned a verdict of guilty in a criminal case, [the court is] not at liberty to direct that the defendant be discharged short of a conclusion on [its] part that the evidence, taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, no reasonable, hypothetical juror could find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty." *Phinisee v. State*, 864 So.2d 988, 992 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing *Fairchild v. State*, 459 So.2d 793, 798 (Miss.1984); *Pearson v. State*,

Furthermore, the issue is moot in that Spann was not sentenced as a habitual offender as explained in the "Statement of the Case" section of this Brief.

428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss.1983)). With this standard in mind, there is sufficient evidence in the case at hand to prove that Spann sold cocaine.

Miss. Code Ann. § 41-29-139 requires that the State prove only that Spann knowingly or intentionally transferred a controlled substance. *See Sullivan v. State*, 749 So.2d 983, 993-94 (Miss.1999). "The State is not required to prove that the seller of a controlled substance personally placed the substance in the hands of the buyer." *Id.* Further, the State is not required to prove that the seller received any benefit or profit for the controlled substance. *See Harrell v. State*, 755 So.2d 1, 1 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (holding that Mississippi law is clear that the "active participation in an illegal drug transaction is sufficient to support a conviction of sale of drugs without demonstrating that the participant received any benefit from the transaction"); *Boone v. State*, 291 So.2d 182 (Miss. 1974) (holding that the seller does not have to realize a profit to be guilty of the sale of a controlled substance); and *Ealy v. State*, 757 So.2d 1053, 1058 (Miss. 2000) (also holding that it was not necessary for the State to show that the defendant made a profit from the sale).

The evidence presented at trial illustrates that the State of Mississippi met its burden and provided sufficient evidence that Spann sold cocaine. For example,

- a. Spann had possession of the crack cocaine. (Transcript p. 48 49, 90, and 109).
- b. Spann handed the crack cocaine to Willie Holmes who handed the cocaine to the confidential informant. (Transcript p. 48-49).
- c. Spann asked the confidential informant, "are you going to give me a drop or anything for going through all this trouble to get this?" (Transcript p. 49).

As such, there is sufficient evidence to sustain Spann's conviction. Thus, Spann's second issue is without merit.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW MARY REED TO TESTIFY.

Spann also argues that the trial court "committed reversible error when it refused to allow the defense to call defense witness Mary Reed to impeach the credibility of the Confidential Informant Mike Jernigan." (Appellant's Brief p. 5). "The admissibility of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court, and absent abuse of that discretion, the trial court's decision on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed on appeal." *Porter v. State*, 869 So.2d 414, 417 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing *McCoy v. State*, 820 So.2d 25, 30 (Miss. Ct. App.2002)). Further, "the admission or exclusion of evidence must result in prejudice or harm, if a cause is to be reversed on that account." *Id.* Accordingly, regardless of whether the trial court erred in refusing to allow Mary Reed to testify, the refusal would have to result in prejudice or harm to be reversible.

Spann asserts that Ms. Reed was prepared to testify "that she was with Mike Jernigan when he was smoking crack with [Stella Spann]." (Appellant's Brief p. 6). Exclusion of this testimony did not substantially affected the outcome of the trial as it had no bearing whatsoever on whether Spann sold cocaine. As set forth in detail above, there was more than sufficient evidence to support the verdict regardless of whether Ms. Reed was allowed to testify. As such, regardless of whether the trial court allowed Ms. Reed's testimony, the jury would have still found Spann guilty of the sale of cocaine. "[A]n error is harmless only when it is apparent on the face of the record that a fair minded jury could have arrived at no verdict other than that of guilty." *Gray v. State*, 799 So.2d 53, 61 (Miss. 2001) (quoting *Forrest v. State*, 335 So.2d 900, 903 (Miss.1976)). Furthermore, the Mississippi Supreme Court held the following regarding "harmless error":

To warrant reversal, two elements must be shown: error, and injury to the party appealing. Error is harmless when it is trivial, formal, or merely academic, and not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party assigning it, and where it in no way affects the final outcome of the case; it is prejudicial, and ground for reversal, only

when it affects the final result of the case and works adversely to a substantial right of the party assigning it. Obviously, in order for the rule of harmless error to be called into play in support of a judgment, the judgment must be otherwise supportable, and will be reversed when there is nothing in the pleadings or evidence to support it.

Id. (quoting Catholic Diocese of Natchez-Jackson v. Jaquith, 224 So.2d 216, 221 (Miss. 1969)).

As there is more than adequate evidence in the record to support Spann's conviction, any error in refusing to allow Ms. Reed's testimony was harmless. Therefore, Spann's third issue is also without merit.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED THE LESSER-INCLUDED JURY INSTRUCTION OF POSSESSION OF COCAINE.

Lastly, Spann argues that the trial court erred in refusing to grant "lesser-included offense instructions, which advised that if the State failed to prove one or more elements of sale of a controlled substance, the jury may find Stella Spann guilty of possession of cocaine." (Appellant's Brief p. 7). Jury instructions are within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Shumpert v. State*, 935 So.2d 962 (Miss. 2006) (citing *Goodin v. State*, 787 So.2d 639, 657 (Miss. 2001)). The appropriate standard for determining whether a lesser-included offense instruction is proper is as follows:

a lesser included offense instruction should be granted unless the trial judge-and ultimately this (the Supreme) Court-can say, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused and considering all reasonable favorable inferences which may be drawn in favor of the accused from the evidence, that no reasonable jury could find the defendant guilty of the lesser included offense (and conversely not guilty of at least one essential element of the principal charge).

Reynolds v. State, 658 So.2d 852, 855 -856 (Miss.1995) (quoting Ormond v. State, 599 So.2d 951 (Miss.1992)). The evidence, even taken in the light most favorable to Spann, does not establish that a reasonable jury could find Spann not guilty of the Sale of Cocaine. As set forth above, Spann knowingly transferred a controlled substance. Moreover, the Reynolds court held that "... the mere

fact that one must possess a controlled substance before they can sell it is not enough to require a

lesser included offense instruction." 658 So.2d at 856.

Further, the court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is fairly covered

elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence. Smith v. State, 839 So.2d

489, 498 (Miss. 2003) (citing Ellis v. State, 790 So.2d 813, 815 (Miss. 2001)) (emphasis added).

There is no foundation in the evidence to support a jury instruction for the lesser-included offense

of possession.

Spann further indicates in her Brief that she was only "interested in getting what she called

quote 'a crumb' for her personal use," (Appellant's Brief p. 8). At set forth in detail above, a seller

of a controlled substance need not receive a profit or benefit from the sale to be found guilty of Sale

of a Controlled Substance. Accordingly, Spann's final issue is without merit.

CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the conviction and sentence

of Stella Spann as there was sufficient evidence to support the conviction and as the trial court did

not commit reversible error.